# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 2/13/2019 3:06 PM

Supreme Court No. 96843-8
Division III, No. 35402-4-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GABRIEL M. GOMEZ,

Petitioner

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

The Honorable Judge Alex Ekstrom

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jill S. Reuter, WSBA #38374 Eastern Washington Appellate Law PO Box 8302 Spokane, WA 99203 Phone: (509) 242-3910

admin@ewalaw.com

#### **

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
	DECISION ON REVIEW1
C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
E.	ARGUMENT6
	Issue 1: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), because the trial court erred by admitting ER 404(b) evidence, when such evidence was irrelevant to establish the res gestae of the crime or rebut a defense
	Issue 2: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3), because Mr. Gomez was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction addressing the ER 404(b) evidence admitted at trial.
	Issue 3: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3), because the State committed prejudicial misconduct in its closing argument by using ER 404(b) evidence as propensity evidence, arguing "[a]nd you know, [Mr. Gomez] likes girls significantly younger than him."
F.	CONCLUSION18

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### Washington Supreme Court

In re Pers. Restraint of Glassman, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)					
State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)					
State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)					
State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995) 14, 15, 16					
State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 689 P.2d 76 (1984)					
State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)					
State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)					
State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 901 P.2d 286 (1995) 12					
State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)					
State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)					
State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)					
State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)					
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) 15, 17					
Washington Court of Appeals					
State v. Dow, 162 Wn. App. 324, 162 Wn. App. 324 (2011)					
State v. Hampton, 182 Wn. App. 805, 332 P.3d 1020 (2014)					
State v. Harris, 36 Wn. App. 746, 677 P.2d 2021 (1984)					
State v. Holmes, 43 Wn. App. 397, 717 P.2d 766 (1986)					

State v. Kloepper, 179 Wn. App. 343, 317 P.3d 1088 (2014)					
State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 93 P.3d 969 (2004)					
State v. Ramirez, 46 Wn. App. 223, 730 P.2d 98 (1986)					
State v. Roth, 75 Wn. App. 808, 881 P.2d 268 (1994)					
State v. Schaffer, 63 Wn. App. 761, 822 P.2d 292 (1991)					
State v. Slocum, 183 Wn. App. 438, 333 P.3d 541 (2014)					
State v. Tharp, 27 Wn. App. 198, 616 P.2d 693 (1980)					
Washington Constitution and Court Rules					
WA Const. Art. 1, § 22					
ER 404(b)					
RAP 13.4(b)6					
RAP 13.4(b)(1)					
RAP 13.4(b)(2)					
RAP 13.4(b)(3)					
Federal Authorities					
U.S. Const. amend. VI					
U.S. Const. amend. XIV					
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)					

#### Other Authorities

Wash. Court of Appeals oral argument, <i>State of Washington v. Gabriel M. Gomez</i> , No. 35402-4-III (Dec. 5, 2018), at 14 min., 54 sec. to 15 min. 18
sec.,
https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/appellateDockets/index.
cfm?fa=appellateDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=a03&docketD
ate=201812051

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Gabriel M. Gomez asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision that affirmed his conviction for one count of third degree child molestation.

#### **B. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT**

The Court of Appeals, Division III, unpublished opinion, filed on January 22, 2019. A copy of this opinion is attached as Appendix A.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), because the trial court erred by admitting ER 404(b) evidence, when such evidence was irrelevant to establish the res gestae of the crime or rebut a defense.

Issue 2: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3), because Mr. Gomez was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction addressing the ER 404(b) evidence admitted at trial.

Issue 3: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3), because the State committed prejudicial misconduct in its closing argument by using ER 404(b) evidence as propensity evidence, arguing "[a]nd you know, [Mr. Gomez] likes girls significantly younger than him."

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gabriel Gomez was a longtime member of the Word of Faith Church in Kennewick, Washington, and often volunteered in the children's youth programs. (RP 232-34, 253). In 2015, he worked with teens, including N.A., who was 15, in the church's media program. (RP 253, 275, 285). This occasionally involved working in a small sound board room with the youth. (RP 253).

In January 2016, N.A. told a youth pastor that Mr. Gomez had hugged her in the sound room and touched her breasts. (RP 299). N.A. waited a few weeks

to disclose the incident because she feared her parents and Mr. Gomez's family would be angry with her for reporting the incident. (RP 298).

Detective Holly Baynes interviewed N.A. shortly after the incident and recorded her statement. (RP 269, 319). N.A. told the detective that Mr. Gomez touched her breasts "a little bit" and speculated the touching may have been accidental. (RP 319). The State charged Mr. Gomez with one count of child molestation in the third degree. (CP 97).

Before trial, the State moved to admit evidence under ER 404(b) that Mr. Gomez was repeatedly asked to modify his behavior around young women in the church, maintaining it was relevant to show absence of mistake. (CP 87-88). Defense counsel objected to the admission of the evidence as irrelevant character evidence, arguing the state was trying to show that "because [Mr. Gomez] hugs people it is likely that he is a child molester." (CP 94).

The court admitted the evidence as "res gestae" evidence to show absence of mistake. (RP 18). In balancing the prejudice and probative value, the court concluded, "[t]he act of hugging an individual is not itself a criminal act .... the risk of unfair prejudice is outweighed by probative value." (RP 14).

The State also moved to present testimony that Mr. Gomez attempted to enter into a dating relationship with Christie Walker, an 18-year-old member of the church, to explain why N.A. did not immediately report the abuse. (RP 18, CP 18). The prosecuting attorney explained that a church leader contacted N.A. after Ms. Walker complained of Mr. Gomez's behavior, which, in turn, prompted N.A.'s disclosure. (RP 21).

Mr. Gomez indicated he had no intention of making an issue of the circumstances of N.A.'s disclosure and objected that the evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. (RP 19-20, 24, CP 95). The State responded that credibility was central to its case and the evidence was needed to show that N.A. had no "agenda" or motive to lie about the abuse. It explained the evidence was "part of the res gestae of how this case came about." (RP 22-23).

The court admitted the evidence, reasoning that without it, the jury would "speculate erroneously as to how it is this young lady was contacted and what it was that prompted that disclosure." (RP 24).

At trial, the State elicited detailed testimony about Mr. Gomez's conduct with young women in the church. Koni Kincaid, a youth pastor at the church, testified that she had to repetitively ask Mr. Gomez to modify his behavior around young girls. (RP 235-37). She also testified that she had asked Mr. Gomez to replace front hugs with side hugs. (RP 237).

Eric Slater, the director of youth education, testified that he also had to repeatedly ask Mr. Gomez to modify his behavior around young girls: "I had to constantly bring it to Koni's attention...that [Mr. Gomez] would go behind girls and tickle their sides, or he would become a jungle gym and have kids hanging all around him when he was supposed to be monitoring the entire classroom." (RP 248). Mr. Slater also had to tell Mr. Gomez to stop holding the hands of young women: "[Mr. Gomez] was just hovering over them and just kind of – the girls felt extremely uncomfortable. And he would grab their hand and move the

keyboard around and just things that are just borderline completely inappropriate." (RP 249).

Mr. Slater testified that he eventually removed Mr. Gomez from the church due to concerns about his texting and involvement with Ms. Walker. (RP 257, 266). He explained, "[w]e felt he used his position of leadership to persuade a relationship with someone directly involved, directly underneath him in the ministry." (RP 265).

N.A. testified that she had known Mr. Gomez as a youth leader in the church for many years. (RP 283). She stated that he occasionally invaded her personal space in the media sound room by putting his arms around her or putting his hand on top of hers and moving the computer mouse. (RP 285, 287).

Defense counsel objected to anticipated questions about a FaceTime communication in which Mr. Gomez asked N.A. to clean his house. (RP 291). The State argued the communication was relevant to prove sexual motivation and absence of mistake. (RP 293). When the court questioned the prosecutor about the time frame of the communication, the prosecutor explained that the charged offense occurred in late December or early January and that the communication at issue occurred in "August, September, October, November, something like that." (RP 292).

The court overruled the defense objection, reasoning "[i]n light of the time frame involved I would find that it is res gestae...[a]ny probative value is not outweighed by unfair prejudice in light of the fact that these are the defendant's own statements close in time to the charged act." (RP 293).

After some prompting by the prosecutor, N.A. recalled that the FaceTime communication occurred a few weeks after the youth group obtained a "LINE app", which N.A. testified was "probably" between August and October. (RP 293-94). N.A. then stated that sometime between December 2015 and January 2016, Mr. Gomez entered the sound booth room where she was typing on a computer. (RP 294, 310). According to N.A., he proceeded to wrap his arms around her and then touched her breasts for 20 to 30 seconds. (RP 296-97).

During closing argument, the state emphasized Mr. Gomez's failure to modify his behavior at the church:

[Y]ou can take into consideration when you think about the sexual contact that he was asked to modify his behavior on numerous occasions by this church. Don't pick up young ladies. Don't give full front hugs. Give side hugs. Don't hover over them on the computer. Don't touch their hands while they are manipulating the mouse. He was told to modify his behavior and continued to not.

(RP 357).

The prosecutor then added, "And you know, [Mr. Gomez] likes girls significantly younger than him. You learned that during trial. You learned that he asked out an 18-year-old Christie Walker when he was 32 years old." (RP 362).

The jury found Mr. Gomez guilty as charged. (RP 373). Mr. Gomez appealed. (CP 204-205). He argued the trial court erred when it admitted three different instances of ER 404(b) evidence; that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction and a

pretrial order addressing the ER 404(b) evidence admitted at trial; and the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Gomez's conviction. *See* Appendix A. He now seeks review by this Court.

#### E. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Issue 1: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), because the trial court erred by admitting ER 404(b) evidence, when such evidence was irrelevant to establish the res gestae of the crime or rebut a defense.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals' decision finding the trial court did not err in admitting ER 404(b) evidence conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court addressing ER 404(b) evidence. *See State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 360, 655 P.2d 697 (1982); *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Gomez also argued the cumulative error doctrine warrants a new trial, and challenged two community custody conditions and specified costs imposed by the trial court. These additional arguments are not raised here.

847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995); *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review by this Court is also merited because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals addressing ER 404(b) evidence. *See State v. Tharp*, 27 Wn. App. 198, 204-05, 616 P.2d 693 (1980); *State v. Holmes*, 43 Wn. App. 397, 401, 717 P.2d 766 (1986); *State v. Roth*, 75 Wn. App. 808, 819, 881 P.2d 268 (1994), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Hampton*, 182 Wn. App. 805, 332 P.3d 1020 (2014); RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Evidence of other crimes or bad acts for which the defendant is not on trial is among the most damaging and unfairly prejudicial evidence that a jury may hear in a criminal trial. *Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d at 360. Accordingly, evidence of a defendant's prior misconduct is categorically barred under ER 404 to demonstrate a defendant's propensity to commit the charged offense. *Holmes*, 43 Wn. App. at 401. Pursuant to ER 404(b), "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b).

To admit evidence of other crimes or wrongs under Washington law, the trial court must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior misconduct occurred; (2) identify a non-propensity purpose for the evidence; (3) determine the relevance of the prior misconduct to prove an element of the crime

or rebut a defense; and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudice. Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Slocum, 183 Wn. App. 438, 448, 333 P.3d 541 (2014).

The trial court erred when it admitted three different instances of ER 404(b) evidence. First, the trial court erred by permitting ER 404(b) evidence that Mr. Gomez was reproached for hugging young women at church to rebut a non-existent defense of mistake.

Prior bad acts may be admitted under ER 404(b) to rebut a claim of accident or mistake. *Roth*, 75 Wn. App. at 819. But such evidence is admissible only if (1) the defendant actually claims that the charged crime was an accident or mistake and (2) the proffered evidence directly negates the defense of mistake. *Id.*; *State v. Ramirez*, 46 Wn. App. 223, 228, 730 P.2d 98 (1986).

Mistake is never a material issue unless first raised by the defendant. *State v. Harris*, 36 Wn. App. 746, 751, 677 P.2d 2021 (1984). "[A] material issue of accident arises where the defense is denial and the defendant affirmatively asserts that the victim's injuries occurred by happenstance or misfortune." *Roth*, 75 Wn. App. at 819. In a sex offense case, it is the defendant's claim of accidental touching that triggers the absence of mistake theory of admissibility. *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984).

Mr. Gomez did not raise a claim of mistake in this case. During his opening statement, defense counsel conceded "[t]here was contact" between Mr. Gomez and N.A., but maintained the case had been "blown out of proportion" and

denied any evidence of sexual motivation. (RP 230, 231). There was no mention of accidental or mistaken touching.

Admittedly, the word "accidental" came up when defense counsel cross-examined N.A. about her initial statement to Detective Baynes that Mr. Gomez had only briefly touched her and that she thought the touching may have been accidental. (RP 306). However, the purpose of this questioning was not to support a defense of mistake, but to undermine N.A.'s claim at trial that Mr. Gomez touched her breasts for as long as 20 to 30 seconds. During closing argument, Mr. Gomez argued that N.A. contradicted herself and "[came] up with new stuff in front of you", but did not use the contradictions to support a defense of mistake. (RP 366-67).

The crux of Mr. Gomez's case was that N.A. contradicted herself and that the evidence was insufficient to support a finding of sexual motivation, not that he mistakenly touched her. Even if mistake had been a genuinely disputed issue in this case, something Mr. Gomez does not concede, Mr. Gomez's history of nonsexual contact with young women in the church would not directly negate the defense. Evidence that Mr. Gomez was frequently admonished for nonsexual behavior with youth is entirely irrelevant to whether he mistakenly touched N.A. The probative value of this evidence was far outweighed by its prejudicial effect. The trial court erred in admitting this prejudicial ER 404(b) evidence.

Second, the trial court erred by admitting evidence that Mr. Gomez communicated with N.A. via FaceTime as res gestae evidence when the communication at issue was remote in time and place from the charge.

Evidence may be admissible under ER 404(b) if it is part of the res gestae of the offense charged. *State v. Lillard*, 122 Wn. App. 422, 432, 93 P.3d 969 (2004). Res gestae evidence is admissible to "complete the story of the crime" by proving its immediate context in time and place; however, the state must show it is an "inseparable" part of the whole crime. *Tharp*, 27 Wn. App. at 204-05; *State v. Schaffer*, 63 Wn. App. 761, 769, 822 P.2d 292 (1991), *aff'd*, 120 Wn.2d 616, 845 P.2d 281 (1993).

The FaceTime communications here were remote in time to the charge. The Court of Appeals agreed, ruling "the trial court erred in admitting the FaceTime conversation under the res gestae rule[,]" but then ruled the error did not require reversal. *See* Appendix A. pgs. 12-14.

An error in admitting evidence under ER 404(b) is harmless unless there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different had the error not occurred. *Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 695. Here, the State cannot establish that any reasonable jury would have reached the same conclusion absent the erroneous admission of the ER 404(b) evidence. The State's case contained weaknesses that were likely overcome by the prejudicial testimony. The jury was inundated with repetitive and cumulative evidence of Mr. Gomez's inappropriate contact with young girls in the church. Testimony that Mr. Gomez asked N.A. to clean his house over FaceTime strongly suggested that he had an inappropriate interest in N.A. Admission of FaceTime communications, especially when viewed along with the other erroneously admitted ER 404(b) evidence, was not harmless.

Third, the trial court erred in admitting evidence that Mr. Gomez asked an 18-year-old member of the church (Christie Walker) for a date as "res gestae" evidence when the circumstances of N.A.'s disclosure were not at issue.

While res gestae evidence may be allowed to explain why an alleged victim delayed reporting sexual abuse, such evidence is generally irrelevant and inadmissible if the defendant does not make an issue of the delay. *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 745.

Mr. Gomez did not make an issue of the circumstances of N.A's disclosure. Despite the State's argument that the evidence was crucial to show that N.A. did not have an agenda in coming forward, nothing in the record suggests that N.A. had any reason to fabricate the incident. N.A. adequately explained the reason she hesitated to disclose, and Mr. Gomez explicitly told the court he had no intention of questioning N.A. about the circumstances of her disclosure. (RP 124).

Eventually, the State's argument was revealed to be no more than a propensity argument. During closing argument, the state exposed its true purpose when it argued that the Ms. Walker evidence showed Mr. Gomez "liked girls significantly younger than him." (RP 362). The trial court erred in admitting this prejudicial ER 404(b) evidence.

Issue 2: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3), because Mr. Gomez was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction addressing the ER 404(b) evidence admitted at trial.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals' decision finding Mr. Gomez did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court. *See State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review by this Court is also merited because the issue raises a significant question of law under the United States Constitution and the Washington Constitution, a defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel. *See* U.S. Const., amend. VI, XIV; WA Const. Art. 1, § 22; RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Mierz*, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995); U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. Art. 1, sec. 22. A claim that counsel was ineffective is a mixed question of law and fact that is reviewed de novo. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 698.

To reverse a conviction for ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Legitimate trial strategy or tactics do not count as deficient performance, but the presumption of reasonable performance can be rebutted by showing "there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." *Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d at 130. A defendant is prejudiced by

counsel's deficient performance if, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.

Generally, a failure to request a limiting instruction is deemed a legitimate trial tactic to avoid reemphasizing the damaging evidence. *State v. Dow*, 162 Wn. App. 324, 335, 162 Wn. App. 324 (2011); *State v. Kloepper*, 179 Wn. App. 343, 317 P.3d 1088 (2014).

Here, defense counsel twice declined the court's offer to give a limiting instruction, explaining that he avoids limiting instructions "at all costs" and that a cautionary instruction in this case had the potential to "backfire" by highlighting the damaging evidence. (RP 24-25, 339).

The Court of Appeals held that defense counsel's performance was not deficient, because "Mr. Gomez's decision to forego a limiting instruction was a legitimate trial strategy or tactic, and he has failed to show otherwise." *See* Appendix A, pgs. 15-16.

However, because the prior misconduct evidence was repeatedly referenced and used to generate a theme throughout trial that Mr. Gomez had a propensity for young girls, no legitimate strategy can be discerned. Multiple pages of trial transcript are devoted to this damaging character evidence, while direct testimony regarding the charge at issue spans roughly two pages. (RP 296-97). A decision to forgo a limiting instruction may be appropriate where ER 404(b) evidence is incidental to the State's case, but where, as here, the evidence is the focus of the state's case, the decision cannot by any measure be deemed

reasonable. Once the court admitted the evidence, defense counsel should have requested an order strictly limiting the testimony of the extrinsic misconduct to that necessary to make the point for which it was admitted. Without such an order, the State introduced an avalanche of repetitive and damaging evidence that far exceeded the basis for its admission.

It is likely that the court would have given a limiting instruction. If the jury had been instructed to confine the use of the evidence to its proper purpose, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different. Mr. Gomez was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction addressing the ER 404(b) evidence admitted at trial.

Issue 3: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3), because the State committed prejudicial misconduct in its closing argument by using ER 404(b) evidence as propensity evidence, arguing "[a]nd you know, [Mr. Gomez] likes girls significantly younger than him."

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals' decision finding Mr. Gomez did not prove the State committed misconduct conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court addressing prosecutorial misconduct. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Glassman*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 708, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 641, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995); RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review by this Court is also merited because the issue raises a significant question of law under the United States Constitution

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