# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/13/2019 3:56 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96843-8

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

GABRIEL M. GOMEZ, Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Terry J. Bloor Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

####

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

This is the colloquy:

MR. HANSON: Your honor, we have discussed and in a brief summary of my client's feelings, they are the same feelings as mine; that when you sit there and tell somebody to not pay attention to it on a jury they might then say, well, why aren't I supposed to pay attention to this and give any weight to it and actually start thinking about it more than they shouldn't be. So that's my feeling on limiting instructions. If I can avoid them at all costs I do, and my client is in agreement.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Gomez, is what Mr. Hanson just said correct; that he has spoken with you regarding this tactical decision in the case and you feel you have had enough time to talk with him about it?

MR. GOMEZ: Correct.

THE COURT: All right. And you understand the basis for the decision and, in fact, you agree with him. Is that---

MR. GOMEZ: Yes.

THE COURT: Very well. With that, I am satisfied.

RP 339-40.

#### C. Prosecutorial misconduct claim

In her closing argument, the prosecutor cited the 18-year-old as an example of the defendant liking "girls significantly younger than him." RP

at 362. However, immediately before this comment she argued that a 15-year-old would not misconstrue an adult cupping her breast. *Id.*Immediately after the "girls significantly younger" comment, the prosecutor stated that it was not illegal for a 32-year-old to ask an 18-year-old for a date and explained the church had an issue with it. *Id.* 

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Summary of argument

The defendant's Petition argues that the trial court erred by admitting ER 404 (b) evidence, not that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with another decision of this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals. Of course, the defendant can point to decisions where a court has held that ER 404 (b) evidence should not be admitted. However, the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly considered such evidence and held it was admissible.

Concerning the claim that the defense attorney was ineffective because he did not request a limiting instruction regarding that evidence, the decision of the Court of Appeals is *consistent* with other decisions that it is a legitimate tactic not to request limiting instructions. Other than stating that a defendant has a right to effective assistance of an attorney, the defendant has not argued how the Federal or State Constitutions apply

to limiting instructions, much less raise significant constitutional questions.

Concerning the prosecutorial misconduct claim, the Court of Appeals used the correct standards in evaluating the argument and its decision is consistent with other decisions. The defendant has zeroed in on one sentence in the prosecutor's 11 page closing argument. That sentence related to the defendant asking to date an 18-year-old. This evidence was not introduced pursuant to ER 404 (b), but to clarify the testimony of a witness. Therefore, it was not limited in scope to a purpose stated in ER 404 (b). The defendant did not object and the prosecutor clarified what she meant.

- B. The decision of the Court of Appeals on ER 404 (b) evidence is *consistent* with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court.
  - 1. The decision upholding the trial court's admission of repeated warnings to the defendant not to hug girls was consistent with other rulings.

The Court of Appeals carefully considered the trial court's decision to admit the evidence. The Court's decision refers to the numerous times the defendant discussed or inquired about the possibility of an accidental touching. The defendant put the issue of accident or mistake to the jury during voir dire, in his opening statement, in his cross

examination of the victim, and his direct examination of a detective. RP at 193, 230-31, 304, 306, 319-20.

The defendant's argued throughout the case that his touching of N.A.'s breasts may have been accidental. It is incorrect he never suggested this defense. The Court of Appeals decision citing *State v. Roth*, 75 Wn. App. 808, 819, 881 P.2d 268 (1994) is on point and is consistent with other cases on this issue.

- 2. The defendant's characterization of the other two issues as ER 404 (b) evidence is not correct.
  - a) Request to date an 18-year-old

The defendant is correct that the trial court approved in pre-trial motion the admission of his request to date an 18-year-old because it clarified the way the church became aware of the victim's statements. However, at trial the evidence was actually admitted as a result of the cross-examination of Eric Slater, a volunteer with the church. The defendant left the jury with an incorrect impression that the he voluntarily stepped down from the youth ministry. Mr. Slater said he actually was asked to leave because he attempted to date an 18-year-old member of the church who he supervised as a youth minister. RP at 263-65. The Court of Appeals decision is correct in saying that the evidence was admitted because of the defendant's question, not because of the ER 404 (b) ruling.

#### b) Facetime video chats

The defendant is also incorrect in saying that the Facetime video chats between him and N.A. was part of an ER 404 (b) ruling. Those video chats were not part of either party's motions in limine. *See* CP 89-96 for defendant's motions and CP 83-88 for State's motions. The trial court did not rule on that issue during the motions in limine.

The issue came up when the victim was testifying and stated she had video chats with the defendant. RP at 290-91. This is not a prior bad act under ER 404 (b) and it is not admissible under that rule. It is admissible under ER 403 as relevant evidence. The defendant's history and communication with the victim are relevant and the trial court held that the probative value of the defendant's video chat with N.A. outweighs any prejudice. RP at 293.

With all due respect to the Court of Appeals, its decision misses this point. The Court of Appeals analyzed the issue as an ER 404 (b) question when it was not. The Court of Appeals also stated that "The State did not respond to this argument," although the State's response brief covers the argument in pages 23-25. *See* Appendix at 12. Nevertheless, as the Court of Appeals stated, the evidence of the video chats did not have a significant impact on the trial. By themselves the contents of the video

chats were innocuous; the defendant simply showed N.A. his residence and asked her to clean it. RP at 294.

c) The decision of the Court of Appeals, finding that the defendant did not receive ineffective assistance from his attorney because of the tactical decision not to request a limiting instruction regarding ER 404 (b) evidence is consistent with a decision of the Supreme Court, and it does not present a significant constitutional question.

The defendant argues that his attorney declined the opportunity to propose a limiting instruction regarding the ER 404 (b) evidence and cites two cases which he claims are in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision. However, neither case is on point. *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004) found the defense attorney ineffective because he or she failed to move to suppress evidence. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) found the defense attorney ineffective because he incorrectly stated the law on self-defense.

A case on point is *State v. Humphries*, 181 Wn.2d 708, 720-21, 336 P.3d 1121 (2014), which held that it is presumed to be a reasonable defense tactic not to request a limiting instruction. Here, note that the defense attorney considered the limiting instruction on the record and his decision not to request one was endorsed by the defendant. RP at 339-40.

As far as the constitutional issues, there is no case holding there is a constitutional requirement for a defense attorney to propose an instruction he or she believes is harmful.

3. The decision of the Court of Appeals, holding that one sentence in the prosecutor's closing argument did not constitute misconduct, is consistent with other decisions and does not present a significant constitutional question.

The defendant cites four cases for the proposition that the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with other decisions. However, in three of those cases the misconduct was pervasive throughout the trial.

In re Pers. Restraint of Glassman, 175 Wn.2d 696, 701-02, 286
P.3d 673 (2012) was a seminal decision on the use of PowerPoint
presentations which included slides with superimposed captions not in the
original exhibit and the word "GUILTY" in red superimposed three times
over the defendant's booking photo. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257
P.3d 551 (2011) involved the prosecutor affecting an accent and asking
African-American witnesses, "[W]ould you agree or disagree with the
notion that there is a code on the streets that you don't talk to the poleese?", that "black folk don't testify against black folk," and that "the
word of a criminal defendant is inherently unreliable." Id. at 671, 673-74.

State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) which described the
prosecutor's behavior as follows: "Several courtroom observers [stated]

the prosecuting attorney . . . rolled his eyes, winced, shook his head, rubbed his head, put his head in his hands and also thrust out his hands in disbelief." *Id.* at 741-42. The Court found that the prosecutor used the defendant's physical abuse of his stepchildren for an improper purpose: to prove the defendant's propensity to commit sexual abuse. *Id.* at 748-49.

The fourth case cited by the defendant is actually helpful. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). The prosecutor made a brief comment in closing that "[t]he hypothesis of the defense's consultants is, destroy the evidence, the scientific evidence of the state. And we can do that by making assumptions, by never calling anybody, never doing any tests in this case." *Id.* at 595-96. There was no objection and the defendant refused a curative instruction. The Court held the failure to object was a waiver unless the remark is deemed to be so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. The Court said the defendant failed to prove the comment was improper or resulted in prejudice. *Id.* at 596.

This case is consistent with *Gentry*. The comment was one sentence in a closing argument that covered 11 pages of transcript. The fact that the defendant attempted to date an 18-year-old was not admitted as ER 404 (b) evidence, but as evidence to clarify a witness's testimony.

As such, it was not limited to a purpose set forth in ER 404 (b). The prosecutor made a factual statement —the defendant does like girls significantly younger than him—and then cautioned the jury that his request to date an 18-year-old is not illegal. The sentence was proper, and the defendant did not suffer any prejudice by not objecting. In fact, an objection would have probably honed the jury's attention to the defendant's attempt to date an 18-year-old.

Of course, the defendant can find cases in which there was prosecutorial misconduct which was flagrant and ill-intentioned. However, the Court of Appeals properly applied the standards to consider such claims, applied the facts in his case, and came up with a decision supported by those facts and the law. There is nothing inconsistent with the Court of Appeals decision in this case and other cases.

Likewise, there is no constitutional issue. The defendant has the right to a fair trial, but the one sentence in the prosecutor's closing argument, which drew no objection, and was based on the facts produced at trial, did not deprive the defendant of a fair trial.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petition for review should be denied.